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The Whitestone Hotel is a low and massive two-story stone building which occupies
a prominent corner lot on the Main Street of Lava Hot Springs, a block from the
narrow strip of park which lies between the commercial street and the Portneuf
River. The first story is rusticated and terminates in a pair of belt courses;
the second is smooth and capped with a second pair of belt courses, a corbeled
cornice and a parapet with cast stone crenellations; the effect of this arrange-
ment is to emphasize both horizontal articulation and vertical progression of
texture. The pair of double-arched openings on the Main Street side--the one
nearest the corner originally a lobby window, the one furtherest an entrance

to the theatre under the same roof--visually approximates an arcade, and is
coupled with flat-arched windows on the second story. Further classicizing
elements are the keystoned arches, and perhaps the dense, dentil-like disposi-
tion of the brackets under the cornice. All of these design elements recall,

on a humble scale, the Renaissance Revival style,

The Whitestone is an eclectic example of that style, however, for the crenel-
lated parapet displays a medieval taste, and the short corner entrance wall

a happy pastiche of decorative motifs. An ornament in the shape of a truncated
triangle is at the toofline, the corbeled cornice below. A transomed balcony
door with a double-scroll lintel opens onto a rectangular balcony, originally
with flat walls, probably of cast stone, pierced with a few large diamond and
oblong shapes. (Only the balcony floor, supported on large consoles, is ex-
tant today.) The flat-arched main entrance, finally, is surmounted by a semi-
circular stone panel segmented in "fan~light'" fashion.

The predominant fabric of the hotel is a local sandstone so soft in texXture ‘
that sawmarks are visible on the surface. Concrete has been used for the crenel-
lation and, it would appear from early photographs, for the vanished balcony
wall. The double-arched theatre entrance is terra cotta trimmed.

The building is unoccupied, and except for the loss of the balcony and the
boarding of openings, unaltered. It is in stable condition externally, but
is suffering internal damage as a result of roof and plumbing failures.
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The architectural significance of the Whitestone Hotel is as a local example-~
the lone local example--of the Second Renaissance Revival style; and as one of
the two most pretentious commercial structures in this small southeast Idaho
resort town.

It is an apt reflection of much of the history of Lava Hot Springs that its two
most significant commercial structures are hotels. Both the Whitestone, which
opened in 1919, and the Riverside Inn, a 1914 Georgian Revival building on the
same block but facing the river rather than the street, were built during a
period of intensive commercial and public development of a cluster of natural
hot springs on the Portneuf River, beside which the village had developed.

The grand hotels, the state natatorium and sanitorium across the river from
them, and the more modest brick hotels further up Main all date from the 'teens
and 'twenties, a period when Lava was growing from an informal resort for
early settlers to a self-conscious and ambitious, if still tiny, spa.

William Godfrey, a rancher from nearby Dempsey, was among the first entre-
preneurs to take out commercial claims on the hot springs. It was Godfrey
who built the Riverside, a 1979 National Register site which still maintains
its original hot mineral baths in the basement. Within two years after the
completion of the Riverside, a group of Lava business people had purchased a
part of the John T. Hall homestead and laid plans for a second big hotel.
The corporation consisted of Truxton Ramsey, David Seppi, Dominic Gregory,
Florence Prevedel, and the Mence and Maranoni brothers. The Maranonis, as
it happened, were stonemasons of Italian descent, and they received the con-
tract for the building.

Native white sandstone from a quarry about a mile southwest of the town was
used in the construction. Work was progressing on the ballroom and cabaret
by 1919, and the grand opening was held on July 4th of that year. A pipeline
from the springs was run into the building and free hot mineral baths provided
for the guests. The theatre opened in the same year; both stage and film
productions appeared there during its long career. Both theatre and hotel
functioned, under the eventual ownership of the same Ramsay family which had
been represented amung the early incorporators, until the late 'sixties, a
time of general decline for the hotel trade in the area.

Although unoccupied and deteriorating at present, the big Main Street hotel
is a particularly potent and visible reminder of an enthusiastic and expansive

passage in the history of the town. If recognized and restored in the manner
of the nearby Riverside and at least one of the small brick hotels further
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from the river, it could make an unusual contribution to the sense of time
and place in a small Idaho town oriented, as ever, towards tourism.




